1954

Nellie A. Lovett v. The Continental Bank and Trust Co : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This action arose out of a claim asserted by Nellie A. Lovett, plaintiff below, respondent herein, against The Continental Bank and Trust Company, defendant below, appellant herein, as Executor of the Estate of Mrs. J. U. Giesy, for certain jewelry claimed by Mrs. Lovett to have been given to her by Mrs. Giesy, prior to her death, and for compensation for services claimed by Mrs. Lovett to have been rendered for Mrs. Giesy.

Mrs. Giesy was the widow of a physician who had formerly practiced in Salt Lake City. She resided in the Maryland Apartments on East South Temple Street. She died in 1953, at an age of approximately 76 years.

Mrs. Lovett is the wife of Harry D. Lovett, an accountant for 31 years at Utah Power and Light Company. He testified that his wife visited Mrs. Giesy in May of 1950 and from that time until the time of Mrs. Giesy's death on March 17, 1953, performed numerous personal services for Mrs. Giesy such as house work and personal beauty work; that during this period his wife accompanied Mrs. Giesy to The Continental Bank and Trust Company and to her physician, Dr. Smith, and that Mrs. Lovett from time to time made out checks for Mrs. Giesy and assisted her with her correspondence.

Curiously, however, Mrs. Lovett was not seeking employment when she went to visit Mrs. Giesy that May in 1950 (R. 56), and Mrs. Giesy had in her employ several persons from time to time — Mrs. Alene Douglas, a negress, Mrs. Haig and Mrs. Maddocks (R. 31, 38, 39).

On Sunday afternoons Mr. and Mrs. Lovett and Mrs. Giesy often went for automobile rides together, as Mr. Lovett said, to make Mrs. Giesy's life as happy as possible (R. 72). Mrs. Giesy, compared Mr. Lovett to her husband, Dr. Giesy, in commenting that Dr. Giesy never took her to the gas station to buy gasoline (R. 72).

Mr. and Mrs. Lovett had dinner with Mrs. Giesy "lots of times" during their association, sometimes in Mrs. Giesy's apartment, sometimes in restaurants while they would be enjoying automobile rides together. Sometimes Mrs. Giesy would pay the check, sometimes Mr. Lovett would pay the check (R. 72). None of the persons employed by Mrs. Giesy were observed eating with her, however (R. 62, 63).

Mrs. Giesy often went with Mrs. Lovett to watch Mr. Lovett bowl (R. 72).

In all, their association appeared to be a mutually enjoyable one, typical of many friendly social relationships. And as would be expected, Mrs. Lovett was never paid any money during all the time she was acquainted with Mrs. Giesy (R. 66). All employees of Mrs. Giesy were paid regularly (R. 67).

In spite of the obvious bond of affection between Mrs. Lovett and Mrs. Giesy, Mr. Lovett was careful to state that while Mrs. Giesy liked Mrs. Lovett, Mrs. Lovett's emotion was one of "respect" (R. 73).

About six months after the May visit at Mrs. Giesy's apartment, Mrs. Giesy, in the company of Mrs. Lovett purchased a large diamond ring (Ex. 1) from Daynes Jewelry for \$2,070.00.

In October, 1952, Mrs. Giesy entered the hospital (R. 35). She remained there for a period of six or seven

weeks (R. 36), leaving in the middle of November. While there, her jewelry was placed in a vault in the hospital (R. 46).

Mr. Lovett testified that during the latter part of November, 1952, while visiting Mrs. Giesy, Mrs. Giesy said that she wanted Mrs. Lovett to have the ring and handed it to her in an envelope (Ex. 2) which contained a box with the ring inside of the box.

On Friday, March 13, 1953, Mrs. Giesy became acutely ill. She continued to get worse from Friday morning until Saturday when Mrs. Maddocks, her nurse, called Dr. Smith (R. 79). Dr. Smith, the personal physician and friend of Mrs. Giesy called upon her that day and again Sunday morning. On Sunday morning Dr. Smith said that Mrs. Giesy would have to go to the hospital.

She had been very ill on the 13th, 14th and 15th; and Dr. Smith had wanted her to go to the hospital earlier, but she did not want to go (R. 117). On Sunday morning he insisted.

He told Mrs. Giesy that he did not want her to take her jewelry to the hospital because he had a great deal of difficulty with her jewelry at times when she was in the hospital before. He said:

“I don’t want to be bothered with it. I don’t intend to be responsible; I don’t intend to have the hospital held responsible.”

He suggested that she have Mrs. Lovett take charge of the jewelry. Mrs. Giesy said that she would (R. 117). She directed Mrs. Maddocks to call Mrs. Lovett so that she could turn the jewelry over to her.

At about one o'clock on March 15, 1953, Mrs. Giesy was taken to the hospital. Mrs. Maddocks testified that she was instructed to follow her with the jewels. However, Mrs. Maddocks said she had a blowout in the driveway so she called Mr. and Mrs. Lovett and requested that they take her to the hospital.

When Mr. and Mrs. Lovett arrived at Mrs. Giesy's apartment, Mrs. Lovett went in the apartment and Mr. Lovett remained in the car. When Mrs. Lovett came out of the apartment, she was carrying a jewel box (Ex. 12). Mr. Lovett, Mrs. Lovett, and Mrs. Maddocks then went to the L.D.S. Hospital. When they arrived at the hospital, Mrs. Lovett and Mrs. Maddocks went inside. Mr. Lovett remained in the car to examine the jewelry (R. 49). He saw in the box certain items of jewelry (Ex. 3 through 11, except 6). When Mrs. Lovett and Mrs. Maddocks returned, Mr. Lovett drove them home.

That evening Mr. and Mrs. Lovett returned to the hospital to visit Mrs. Giesy. Mr. Lovett testified that Mrs. Giesy said that she wanted Mrs. Lovett to have the jewelry. Mr. Lovett put the jewelry in his safety box at Walker Bank Building.

During the night of March 16 and the morning of March 17, Mrs. Giesy was in a stuporous condition. That morning Mr. and Mrs. Lovett were advised by a nurse at the hospital that Mrs. Giesy was dying and to hurry to the hospital. Twenty minutes later Dr. Smith called and said that Mrs. Giesy had died. Mr. and Mrs. Lovett went to the hospital, arriving there at approximately 6:30 a.m. They met a nurse, Mrs. Garrison, in Mrs. Giesy's room. Mrs. Giesy's body was in the room at the time. She had on her ears a pair of diamond earrings (Ex. 6). At the request of Mrs. Lovett, the earrings were removed from Mrs. Giesy's body by Mrs. Garrison and handed to Mrs. Lovett (R. 54).

Within four days following Mrs. Giesy's death, and within a day or two following the funeral, Mrs. Lovett called Mr. D. A. Skeen, Mrs. Giesy's attorney, and asked if she could see him. She was told that she could and she went to his office. She asked about the will and it was either read to her or she was given its substance. Mrs. Lovett previously knew she was a beneficiary under the will (R. 143).

She said that she had a box containing Mrs. Giesy's jewelry and asked what she should do with it. She said that she had taken it because she didn't want to leave it in the home after Mrs. Giesy's going to the hospital (R. 139). Mr. Skeen said he thought they should call Mr. O'Meara, Trust Officer of The Continental Bank, Executor of the Will. When Mr. O'Meara arrived, he asked

Mrs. Lovett for the jewelry which, he had been advised, was in her possession. She said that she would turn it over to him. She said that she had it in a safety deposit box for "safekeeping." She refused to turn over the large diamond ring purchased from Daynes, however, since, she claimed, "it had been given to her." (R. 131).

Mr. O'Meara, who arrived immediately after Mrs. Lovett had learned the contents of the will, observed that she was "upset, even shocked". Under the terms of the will, Mrs. Lovett was to receive a collection of ceramic geese figurines and a needlepoint rocking chair. Mr. Lovett was to receive a piano (R. 132, Ex. 21).

Mrs. Lovett called Dr. Smith and asked him to come to her home. He did so. Mrs. Lovett said she had all of the jewelry. Dr. Smith replied that when Mr. O'Meara asked for the jewelry, she should turn it over to him. She said that she would. She did not suggest in any way that it had been given to her (R. 119).

A day or two prior to April 3, 1953, Mr. O'Meara discussed the jewelry with Mr. Edward M. Morrissey, attorney, who at this time had been employed by Mrs. Lovett. He said if demand were made he would advise Mrs. Lovett to return the jewelry, without waiving any claim she might have. Demand was made on April 3, 1953 (Ex. 15). Mrs. Lovett was advised to return all jewelry except the large ring, that claim would probably not be made for the ring (R. 90, 91, 92). All jewelry except the ring was later delivered to the bank.

Sometime later, Mrs. Lovett came to Dr. Smith's office and said that she had turned all the jewelry over to the estate, except the large ring. She said "they were going to try to take the ring from her" (R. 120), and added that she was considering claiming all of the jewelry. Yet even to Dr. Smith, whom she had visited with Mrs. Giesy for almost three years, she did not say it had been given to her. She had been "advised to claim it." (R. 121).

On June 13, 1953, a suit was filed in which the first cause of action sought to recover the jewelry which had been delivered to The Continental Bank and Trust Company. The second cause of action asked for \$3,300.00, which it was alleged Mrs. Giesy agreed to pay Mrs. Lovett for services (R. 2). The Bank counterclaimed for the large ring. On February 16, 1954, the jury returned a verdict for the plaintiff for the jewelry, except the earrings which had been withdrawn from their consideration on motion, and for \$3,300.00.

On February 17, 1954, the Bank moved for a new trial or for judgment notwithstanding the verdict. This motion was denied. This appeal followed.

STATEMENT OF POINTS

I. THE EVIDENCE IS INSUFFICIENT AS A MATTER OF LAW TO JUSTIFY THE VERDICT IN FAVOR OF PLAINTIFF ON PLAINTIFF'S FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION.

II. THE EVIDENCE IS INSUFFICIENT AS A MATTER OF LAW TO JUSTIFY THE VERDICT IN FAVOR OF PLAINTIFF ON PLAINTIFF'S SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION.

1. There is no evidence to support an express contract of employment as pleaded in plaintiff's complaint.
2. The evidence of implied contract of employment is insufficient as a matter of law to justify the verdict in favor of plaintiff.

III. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ITS CHARGE TO THE JURY.

1. Instruction No. 3 is erroneous as a matter of law in that it places the burden of negating a gift upon the defendant.
2. Instruction No. 6 is erroneous as a matter of law in that it is a misstatement of the law as it pertains to delivery of the subject of an alleged gift.

ARGUMENT

I. THE EVIDENCE IS INSUFFICIENT AS A MATTER OF LAW TO JUSTIFY THE VERDICT IN FAVOR OF PLAINTIFF ON PLAINTIFF'S FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION.

In her first cause of action plaintiff claimed that she was the owner of and entitled to possession of the pieces of jewelry involved in this case. Her claim of ownership is based upon an alleged gift, claimed to have been made on March 13, 1953.

The law is well settled that one who asserts title by gift has the burden of proving that a gift was made, in-

cluding the existence of all of the elements essential to its validity. A clear and unmistakable intention on the part of the donor to make a gift of his property is one of the essential requisites. *Jones, et al., v. Cook* (Utah, 1950) 223 P. (2d) 423.

In the Jones Case, Leah C. Jones brought action against Mark B. Cook as Executor of the Estate of Mark Cook, his father, for conversion of an automobile which Mrs. Jones claimed as a residuary legatee under the last will and testament of Mark Cook. The evidence in that case showed that the defendant Mark B. Cook paid the taxes on the automobile beginning with the year 1944. Mark Cook died in July, 1943. The certificate of ownership was in the name of Mark Cook. Mark B. Cook used the automobile part of the time but it was left in a garage on the homestead of the parents most of the time. Defendant at that time had no passenger car of his own but he had a truck. Up to the time of trial defendant made no claim to the effect that he acquired title by virtue of a parole gift from his father in May, 1943. At the time of trial, however, he set up such a defense. His wife testified that in May, 1943, Mark Cook came over to the home of defendant and requested defendant to take him for a ride in the car. The witness was invited to go along. The father then handed the defendant the certificate of title to the automobile and said, "Mark, here is the certificate of ownership and the extra set of keys to the car. I'm giving it to you with the understanding that you take mother and I at any time we want to

go." Defendant did not tell plaintiff at any time prior to the trial that his father had made a gift of the car to him. His wife testified that the father told her husband to say nothing to anyone about the matter.

This Court said:

"There is no presumption in favor of a gift inter vivos. One who asserts title by gift inter vivos has the burden of proving that a gift was made including the existence of all of the elements essential to its validity. (Citing Authorities). The rule is that 'a clear and unmistakeable intention on the part of the donor to make a gift of his property is an essential requisite of a gift inter vivos.' (Citing Authorities)."

It was held in that case that the defendant did not prove a parole gift by clear and convincing evidence. The certificate of ownership was not endorsed; there was a serious dispute as to when defendant obtained possession of the certificate; and it was doubtful as to whether the alleged donor was divested of all dominion and control over the property since the father was unable to drive the car, and it was kept on the father's premises except when defendant was using it; defendant did not claim a gift for four years, and the assertion of such contention for the first time when the case went to trial suggests that the idea of a gift was an after-thought. The judgment of the lower court in favor of defendant was reversed.

The evidence before the court as to the alleged gift in the instant case is likewise not clear and convincing.

Mrs. Maddocks was specifically directed by Mrs. Giesy to follow the ambulance to the hospital with the jewelry. Instead, she telephoned Mrs. Lovett to come to the apartment, and when she arrived, handed to her the jewelry (R. 80).

By her instructions to Mrs. Maddocks, Mrs. Giesy expressed clearly an intention to retain dominion and control over the jewelry.

Mrs. Giesy told Dr. Smith just before she left for the hospital that she would have Mrs. Lovett take charge of her jewelry while she was in the hospital (R. 117).

No claim of gift was made while Mrs. Giesy was living even though Mrs. Maddocks handed the jewelry to Mrs. Lovett two days prior to Mrs. Giesy's death. It was not mentioned to Dr. Smith even though Mrs. Lovett had known him and of his relationship of friend and physician of Mrs. Giesy for at least three years.

A few days after Mrs. Giesy's death, at the home of Mrs. Lovett, Dr. Smith was told by Mrs. Lovett that she would turn over all jewelry except the large ring to Mr. O'Meara. She made no claim of gift (R. 119). This conversation, oddly, was at the instance of Mrs. Lovett. She wanted to know what to do with the jewelry. Peculiar, to say the least, if she thought Mrs. Giesy had given it to her. Why differentiate between the large ring and the other jewelry? The answer is obvious. She was "advised" to make claim of gift of the other jewelry (R. 121).

Mrs. Lovett told Mr. Skeen and Mr. O'Meara that she had the jewelry for "safekeeping" (R. 131). She said she would withhold the large ring, "because *it* had been given to her" (R. 131, emphasis added), but the other jewelry would be delivered to Mr. O'Meara.

Counsel attempted to show by the testimony of Mr. Morrissey, Mrs. Lovett's attorney at that time, that when the jewelry was delivered to the Bank, Mrs. Lovett was not admitting anything. It is indeed significant that the conversation between Mr. Morrissey and Mr. O'Meara was about two weeks after the conversations between Mrs. Lovett and Dr. Smith, and Mrs. Lovett and Mr. Skeen and Mr. O'Meara at Mr. Skeen's office. Mr. Morrissey did not advise Mrs. Lovett to return the jewelry until after April 3, 1953, two weeks after she had already agreed to do so. (R. 110, 119, 131).

Although numerous opportunities were presented, Mrs. Lovett never claimed that a gift of the jewelry to her had been made prior to the filing of her complaint. This conduct, viewed in the light of human experience, shows most persuasively that the claim of gift was a complete after-thought, made upon advice of counsel. If this were not a fact, Mrs. Lovett would have taken the stand in rebuttal, as permitted by the Dead Man's Statute, and denied it.

The verdict in this case upon Respondent's first cause of action lacks the support of clear and convincing evidence and should accordingly be reversed.

II. THE EVIDENCE IS INSUFFICIENT AS A MATTER OF LAW TO JUSTIFY THE VERDICT IN FAVOR OF PLAINTIFF ON PLAINTIFF'S SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION.

- 1. There is no evidence to support an express contract of employment as pleaded in plaintiff's complaint.**

Paragraph 4 of plaintiff's second cause of action alleges "that between the first day of June, 1950, and the 16th day of March, 1953, plaintiff rendered services to said deceased at said deceased's express instance and request of the reasonable value of Thirty-three Hundred Dollars (\$3,300.00); that said deceased agreed to pay plaintiff the sum of Thirty-three Hundred Dollars (\$3,300.00) for said services."

Rule 8 (e) (2), U.R.C.P., provides "a party may set forth two or more statements of a claim or defense alternatively or hypothetically, either in one count or defense or in separate counts or defenses."

At the conclusion of the plaintiff's evidence, defendant moved to dismiss the second cause of action of plaintiff's complaint upon the ground that the evidence failed as a matter of law to show an express agreement between plaintiff and Mrs. Giesy for payment of the sum of Thirty-three Hundred Dollars (\$3,300.00) for services alleged to have been performed by plaintiff. Plaintiff contended that her pleading came within the rule permitting alternative statements of a claim in the same count and that the motion therefore should be denied.

The same objection was raised by defendant in its requested instructions for the jury wherein defendant sought to have the issue of implied contract taken from the jury.

Rule 8 (e)(2) permits alternative statements of a claim but does not permit inconsistent statements of a claim not pleaded alternatively. A fair reading of paragraph 4 of plaintiff's second cause of action states a claim upon express contract, the two sentences in that count being conjunctive rather than disjunctive. This being so, the issue of implied contract should not have been submitted to the jury and defendant's motion to dismiss the second cause of action should have been granted at the close of plaintiff's evidence.

In *Morris v. Russell*, (Utah, 1951) 236 P. (2d) 451, the plaintiff pleaded on one count an express contract for \$100.00 per month and on another count for *quantum meruit* for the reasonable value of his services. At the conclusion of the plaintiff's evidence, the court granted a motion to strike the count in *quantum meruit*. After the presentation of the defendant's evidence, however, the court vacated its former ruling and reinstated the count. The Supreme Court on appeal said that the adding of the *quantum meruit* count was equivalent to conforming to the proof and that, since there was no showing that the defendants were misled nor prevented from presenting their evidence or in any way prejudiced by reinstating the count, the trial court did not err in per-

mitting the case to go to the jury on the theory of implied contract.

Where, however, the defendant does not have adequate notice of his opponent's claim and is surprised, misled, or prejudiced in his defense, and has no opportunity to meet the issues presented, it is error to submit a case to the jury on a theory of implied contract when the cause of action was pleaded in express contract. See *Taylor v. E. M. Royle Corp.* (Utah, 1953), 264 P. (2d) 279.

Defendant in this case was prepared to meet a claim based upon an express contract. Defendant's investigation disclosed, and the trial confirmed, that there was in fact no such contract. Defendant was relatively assured that any proof of express contract would have to come from the plaintiff herself and, since defendant was of the opinion that the testimony of plaintiff would not be proper in this case, defendant considered it necessary to be very cautious so as to avoid a waiver of the incompetency of the plaintiff as provided for by the Dead Man's Statute.

If defendant had reasonably been apprised of the nature of the claim which would be made by plaintiff upon the trial of this case, defendant would have employed pretrial discovery procedures to determine precisely what services plaintiff claimed were performed and in all respects, defendant could have prepared itself to meet such proof.

Defendant, under the peculiar facts of this case, had no opportunity to determine the precise nature of plaintiff's claim by way of interrogatory or deposition of the plaintiff, since to employ either of those procedures might well have resulted in a waiver of the incompetency of the plaintiff.

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