1954

Nellie A. Lovett v. The Continental Bank and Trust Co : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

3. Appellant asserts that the verdict of the jury is not supported by clear and convincing evidence that Mrs. Giesy did give Mrs. Lovett the jewelry because Mrs. Lovett did not take the witness stand to rebut the testimony of Dr. Smith, Mr. O'Meara and Mr. D. A. Skeen to the effect that Mrs. Lovett did not tell them that Mrs.

Giesy gave her the jewelry in certain conversations concerning turning the jewelry over to the executor, appellant's brief, pp. 12-13. We submit that that above conclusion is not correct and that no such inference can be drawn from the record.

a. Mrs. Lovett took the witness stand as a part of her own case to testify to the circumstances following Mrs. Giesy's death connected with her turning the jewelry over to the executor bank. Appellant objected that the dead man's statute, Sec. 78-24-2, U.C.A., 1953, made Mrs. Lovett incompetent to testify as a witness regardless of the fact that her proffered testimony pertained to matters that occurred after Mrs. Giesy's death and not to any transactions with the decedent or matters equally within hers and the decedent's knowledge. The trial court sustained appellant's objection and refused to permit Mrs. Lovett to testify to the circumstances connected with turning the jewelry over to the executor. (R. 105.) *Supra*, p. 16, *et seq.* Section 78-24-2, U.C.A., 1953, makes a party to an action against an executor incompetent to testify only as to transactions with the decedent and matters equally within the party's and the decedent's knowledge.

b. Furthermore, the testimony of Dr. Smith, Mr. O'Meara and Mr. Skeen was so conflicting and so irreconcilable with the basic facts of the case that it was apparent that these witnesses were testifying to their present impressions of a past event and not to what they actually saw and heard. Respondent's counsel, therefore,

determined that it was not necessary to call Mrs. Lovett in rebuttal.

Dr. Smith testified that, when Mrs. Giesy arrived at the hospital, Mrs. Giesy explained to him that she was late because she waited until Mrs. Lovett came to the apartment and that she then turned the jewelry over to Mrs. Lovett herself (R. 118, 123, 124). Mr. Skeen testified that Mrs. Lovett told him that, when Mrs. Giesy left for the hospital, Mrs. Lovett put the jewelry in the jewel box and took it herself (R. 139, 144). The actual facts, as testified to by Mrs. Maddocks who was present at the time, were as follows. Mrs. Giesy handed the jewel box to Mrs. Maddocks with directions to give the jewels to Mrs. Lovett. After Mrs. Giesy left for the hospital, Mrs. Maddocks attempted to follow the ambulance. She had a mishap with her automobile and called the Lovetts. When Mrs. Lovett arrived at the apartment, Mrs. Maddocks handed the jewel box to Mrs. Lovett and said, "Mrs. Giesy said you were to have these jewels." (R. 79, 80, 82, 83.)

Mr. O'Meara testified that in the conference in Mr. Skeen's office Mrs. Lovett said that she would not turn the large diamond ring (Ex. 1) over to the executor because it had been given to her (R. 131). Mr. Skeen testified that in the same conference Mrs. Lovett made no claim to any of the jewelry and in particular that she did not claim ownership of the large diamond ring (R. 144).

c. Appellant asserts that Mrs. Lovett told Mr.

O'Meara in the conference with Mr. Skeen that she had the jewelry for "safekeeping", appellant's brief, p. 13. Mr. O'Meara's testimony was not to that effect. Mr. O'Meara testified that Mrs. Lovett told him that *she had the jewelry in her safety deposit box* for the purpose of safekeeping and not that she was holding it for safekeeping. (R. 131.)

d. Furthermore the record shows the following. Mrs. Giesy gave the jewelry to Mrs. Lovett on March 15, 1953. Mrs. Giesy died on March 17, 1953. In March of 1953, Mrs. Lovett employed an attorney to represent her at the inception of the dispute involved in this matter (R. 107, 108). Thereafter she deposited the jewelry with the executor bank for safekeeping only, and only on the condition that in so doing she was not relinquishing any of her rights, or waiving her claim, or admitting anything with reference to her claim, to the jewelry. See testimony of Mr. Edward M. Morrissey (R. 108-111) and testimony of Mr. W. L. O'Meara (R. 135-136). *Supra*, p. 15 *et seq.* Mrs. Lovett did not deposit the large diamond ring with the executor because her attorney advised her not to do so because it was his opinion that under the circumstances neither the heirs nor anyone else would make any claim to it (R. 111-112). The large diamond ring had been given to Mrs. Lovett in November of 1952, four months prior to Mrs. Giesy's death (R. 43-46).

The decision in *Jones v. Cook*, 118 U. 562, 223 P. 2d 423, appellant's brief, pp. 10-11, is to be distinguished on its facts and in principle from the case before this

court. In *Jones v. Cook* the plaintiffs, residuary legatees under the will of their father, sued the defendant executor for conversion of an automobile that belonged to the father during his lifetime. The defendant executor was also a son of the decedent. The defendant pleaded as defenses that the plaintiffs' action was barred by the statute of limitations and a decree in the probate proceedings. The defendant claimed for the first time at trial that he acquired title to the automobile by gift from the decedent. The only evidence in support of the defendant's claim of a gift was his wife's testimony to the effect that the decedent had given him the automobile a few weeks prior to decedent's death. The evidence showed that the automobile had remained in the possession of the decedent and his wife most of the time after the alleged time of the gift, that the certificate of title was never endorsed by the decedent to the defendant and that the defendant did not claim that the decedent had given the automobile to him for over four years after the decedent's death. The trial court refused to find that the decedent had given the automobile to the defendant. The supreme court affirmed the decision of the trial court on that issue.

The case before this court was submitted to the jury under instructions that the burden was on respondent to prove all the elements of a gift by clear and convincing evidence, and the jury found in favor of respondent. We submit that the verdict was amply supported by clear and convincing evidence.

POINT II.

THE EVIDENCE WAS SUFFICIENT TO SUPPORT THE VERDICT OF THE JURY IN FAVOR OF RESPONDENT ON RESPONDENT'S SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION FOR THE RECOVERY OF THE REASONABLE VALUE OF RESPONDENT'S SERVICES.

1. Whether or not the evidence was sufficient to support a recovery on an express promise of the decedent to pay respondent the specific sum of \$3,300.00 was immaterial.

Paragraph No. 4 of respondent's second cause of action reads verbatim as follows:

"4. That between the 1st day of June, 1950, and the 16th day of March, 1953, plaintiff rendered services to said deceased at said deceased's special instance and request of the reasonable value of \$3,300.00. That said deceased agreed to pay plaintiff the sum of \$3,300.00 for said services." (R. 2)

Appellant claims that respondent is limited on her second cause of action to recovery on an express promise of Mrs. Giesy to pay respondent the specific sum of \$3,300.00. Appellant reaches this result by the following process of reasoning. (1) That the allegations in paragraph 4 for recovery in *quantum meruit* and for recovery on the express promise are written in the conjunctive rather than the disjunctive. That, therefore, paragraph 4 does not state a claim for recovery on two theories in the alternative. That the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure do not authorize this form of pleading. That as a result respondent is limited to recovery on an express promise of Mrs. Giesy to pay the specific sum of \$3,300.00 for services rendered. (2) That a fair reading of paragraph

4 leads to the conclusion that respondent was only seeking to recover on an express promise of Mrs. Giesy to pay the specific sum of \$3,300.00 because the allegations are written in the conjunctive rather than the disjunctive. That the appellant could not determine the exact nature of respondent's claim by taking her deposition or interrogatories because employment of such procedure would have resulted in waiver of respondent's incompetency under the dead man's statute to testify at trial. That had appellant known that respondent was seeking to recover the reasonable value of respondent's services performed at Mrs. Giesy's request, appellant would have employed discovery procedures regardless of waiver of respondent's incompetency. That, therefore, appellant was misled and prejudiced in the preparation of its defense; and, as a result, respondent is limited to recovery on the express promise. (Appellant's brief, pp. 14-17.)

We submit that neither appellant's conclusion nor the premises on which it is based are correct.

1. Paragraph 4 contains a statement of a claim for recovery on two theories, the one in *quantum meruit* and the other on an express contract. The allegations are in the disjunctive and not the conjunctive. The two counts are expressed in separate sentences, and they are set forth alternately. If appellant was possibly confused by absence of use of the word "or," appellant could have enlightened itself by a motion for more definite statement under Rule 12(e) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, which motion would probably have been denied because the pleading is clear on its face.

2. Appellant claims that it was misled. We do not know in what plainer language appellant could have been informed that respondent was seeking to recover the reasonable value of her services performed at Mrs. Giesy's special instance and request than by the allegation, "That between the 1st day of June, 1950, and the 16th day of March, 1953, plaintiff rendered services to said deceased at said deceased's special instance and request of the reasonable value of \$3,300.00." Furthermore appellant could have employed discovery procedures to determine the exact nature of respondent's claim. The taking of the deposition of an adverse party does not waive the right to object to the competency of the party's testimony at trial under the dead man's statute, *Clayton v. Ogden State Bank*, 82 U. 564, 26 P. 2d 545 (1933).

3. Both theories of recovery are alleged in one count as authorized by Rule 8(e) (2) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, which reads as follows :

"A party may set forth two or more statements of a claim * * * alternately or hypothetically, either in one count * * * or in separate counts * * *. When two or more statements are made in the alternative and one of them if made independently would be sufficient, the pleading is not made insufficient by the insufficiency of one or more of the alternative statements. A party may also state as many separate claims * * * as he has regardless of consistency * * *."

The decision in *Taylor v. E. M. Royle Corp.*, (Utah, 1953) 264 P. 2d 279, is not authority for appellant's proposition. In the *Taylor* case the plaintiff declared on an ex-

press contract only. He neither pleaded (as was done in the case before this court) nor offered proof (as was done in the case before this court) of a claim in *quantum meruit*. At the close of all the evidence the trial court took the case under advisement and thereafter adjudged that the plaintiff was entitled to recover in *quantum meruit*. The supreme court reversed because the defendant had no notice whatsoever of a claim for the reasonable value of the plaintiff's services. The court distinguished and cited with approval *Morris v. Russell* (Utah, 1951) 236 P. 2d 451, wherein the plaintiff pleaded, as was done in the case before this court, a claim for recovery on an express contract and a claim for recovery in *quantum meruit* and the court held that the plaintiff was entitled to recover in *quantum meruit*.

2. The evidence was sufficient to support the verdict of the jury in favor of respondent for the recovery on an implied promise of the reasonable value of respondent's services rendered at decedent's special instance and request.

Appellant's argument on this issue is addressed solely to conflicting inferences that were resolved by the jury in favor of respondent. The inferences are drawn by appellant from a purported quotation of isolated bits of testimony that is not supported by the record. Appellant asserts that the issue before this court is whether Mrs. Lovett and Mrs. Giesy reasonably contemplated that Mrs. Lovett would be paid for her services, or whether the services would reasonably be interpreted as a gratuity. Appellant then states that the evidence does not show circumstances from which a promise to pay

could reasonably be inferred. (Appellant's brief, pp. 17-22.)

The issue before this court is whether or not there was any substantial evidence to support the verdict of the jury. We submit the matter on the record set forth above, p. 4, et seq., with the following additional comments. One does not engage in employment an average in excess of six hours a day for thirty-three months doing the following work: domestic work consisting of preparing meals, washing dishes, washing and polishing floors, laundering clothing, washing windows, and the general household duties of a large apartment; beauty work consisting of washing and tinting hair, giving facials and manicuring nails an average of in excess of once each week; correspondence work consisting of reading and writing mail, taking care of accounts and writing checks; and, personal work consisting of the care of the person of another, without both parties contemplating that the services will be paid for in money. This is particularly true where a person in the position of Mrs. Lovett was specifically asked to take over the duties of a former domestic employee and was repeatedly told that she need not be concerned about payment for her services because she would be well paid. The evidence in this case is that Mrs. Lovett's services were worth the reasonable value of \$1.25 to \$1.50 per hour (R. 78). Computed at that rate over a period of thirty-three months at an average of six hours per day, Mrs. Lovett's services were reasonably worth between two and three times the amount of the \$3,300.00 claim that she presented in pro-

bate. We submit that the verdict of the jury was amply supported by the evidence.

POINT III.

THE INSTRUCTIONS AS GIVEN DID NOT PLACE THE BURDEN ON APPELLANT OF NEGATING A GIFT OF THE LARGE DIAMOND RING (EX. 1) THAT WAS THE SUBJECT OF APPELLANT'S COUNTERCLAIM. THE INSTRUCTIONS DID NOT PREJUDICE APPELLANT.

Appellant claims that Instruction No. 3 placed the burden on appellant of negating a gift of the large diamond ring that was the subject of appellant's counterclaim.

1. Instruction No. 3 read as follows :

“The burden is upon the plaintiff to prove by a preponderance of the evidence, as that term is hereinafter defined, the allegations of the 2nd cause of action of said complaint, as the same are set forth in Instruction No. 1; and the burden is upon the defendant to so prove *the allegations of its counter-claim, as the same are set forth in Instruction No. 2.*” (R. 168.) (Italics added.)

Instruction No. 2 (R. 166) set forth the allegations of appellant's counterclaim, which were in the ordinary form of a complaint in replevin, and alleged ownership and right to possession of the large diamond ring in Mrs. Giesy prior to her death, right to possession in the executor as her successor, a demand on Mrs. Lovett and refusal. The burden was on appellant to prove a *prima facie* case in replevin, as set forth in Instruction No. 2 and 3, by proving original ownership and right to possession in Mrs. Giesy, right to possession in the executor as her

successor and a demand and refusal. Respondent admitted those facts by proving that Mrs. Giesy purchased the ring from her own funds in December of 1950 (R. 42, 89-91), by admitting that appellant was executor of her estate (R. 1) and proving a demand by the executor (Ex. 15, R. 108, 113) and withholding of the ring by respondent (Ex. 16, R. 111, 113). *Supra*, p. 10 *et seq.*

It then became the burden of respondent to prove by clear and convincing evidence that Mrs. Giesy gave the large diamond ring to her. This burden on respondent was amply covered by Instructions No. 6A and 9, which were not in conflict with Instruction No. 3. Instruction No. 6A read as follows :

“The plaintiff, Mrs. Lovett, claims she owns *each of the items of jewelry in this case* because, she claims, the jewelry was given to her by Mrs. Giesy. You are instructed that *a person who claims ownership of property by gift has the burden of proving each of the elements of gift by clear and convincing evidence.*

“If you do not find that all of these elements of a gift to Mrs. Lovett have been proved by clear and convincing evidence, it would be your duty to find in favor of the defendant and against the plaintiff.” (R. 172.) (Italics added.)

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